FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
3/10/2022 4:32 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/11/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>100736-1</u>

No. 54597-7-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ISAIAH SCHUBERT,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

JAN TRASEN Attorney for Petitioner WSBA # 41177

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
E.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED.8
	1. As this Court already recognized, Mr. Schubert's plea was involuntary because he was misadvised of the sentencing consequences of his guilty plea
	a. Due process requires a defendant to be properly advised of the direct consequences of a guilty plea8
	b. This Court found the miscalculation in Mr. Schubert's offender score rendered his plea involuntary; this remains the law of the case
	c. This Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals opinion is in conflict with Mendoza and Buckman
	2. This Court should grant review of and consider each of Mr. Schubert's pro se statement of additional grounds for review raised in the Court of Appeals
F.	CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Supreme Court

In re the Pers. Restraint of Isadore, 151 Wn.2d 294, 88 P.3d 390
(2004)
State v. Johnson, 188 Wn.2d 742, 399 P.3d 507 (2017)
State v. Mendoza, 157 Wn.2d 582, 141 P.3d 49 (2006)9, 15
State v. Ross, 129 Wn.2d 279, 916 P.2d 405 (1996)9
<u>State v. Walsh</u> , 143 Wn.2d 1, 17 P.3d 591 (2001)9
Wood v. Morris, 87 Wn.2d 501, 554 P.2d 1032 (1976)
Washington Court of Appeals
In re Pers. Restraint of Schubert, 7 Wn. App. 2d 1007 (2019) 3, 12
State v. Rhodes, 8 Wn. App. 2d 1052 (2019)
United States Supreme Court
Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 242, 89 S. Ct. 1709, 23 L. Ed. 2d 274 (1969)
Washington Constitution
Article I, § 22

United States Constitution

U.S. Const. amend. Vi	2		
Statutes			
RCW 10.73.150(4)	12		
Rules			
CrR 7.8	6		
GR 14.1	16		
RAP 9.11	5		
RAP 13.4(b)			
RAP 18 17	17		

A. INTRODUCTION

Three years ago, this Court's Commissioner determined Isaiah Schubert's guilty plea was involuntary because his offender score was miscalculated. Mr. Schubert, a first time offender, had filed a *pro se* PRP, and the Court of Appeals denied his request for appointed counsel, even though his PRP raised meritorious issues.

Mr. Schubert returned to the trial court and again complained about his involuntary plea, but the trial court believed it only had the authority to conduct a minor resentencing. On appeal, the Court of Appeals agreed Mr. Schubert's sentence was still unlawful but ruled he was barred from arguing his plea was involuntary because he had previously raised the issue in his PRP, and he had not shown actual and substantial prejudice as required for relief in a PRP.

The Court of Appeals misapplied the law because this

Court had previously determined his guilty plea was involuntary.

It also improperly required Mr. Schubert meet the PRP prejudice

standard in this direct appeal, which conflicts with opinions of this Court. This Court should grant review.

B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Isaiah Schubert asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision dated February 8, 2022. RAP 13.4(b).

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment and article I, sections 3 and 22 require a guilty plea be entered knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily. If a person has been misadvised about the consequences of a guilty plea, the resulting plea is not entered knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. On direct appeal, an appellant must show, at most, that they were prejudiced as a consequence of the invalid plea. The Court of Appeals misapplied the law where it used the wrong standard of review in this direct appeal, rejecting a valid challenge to the voluntariness of a guilty plea that this Court had previously found involuntary. The Court of Appeals opinion is thus in conflict with

this Court's opinions, calling for this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Schubert largely relies on the factual history in the Brief of Appellant, pages 3-6. Additional procedural history is included below.

1. Mr. Schubert files a pro se PRP before his appeal.

Following Mr. Schubert's guilty plea and before appellate counsel was appointed, Mr. Schubert filed a *pro se* personal restraint petition (PRP) challenging the invalidity of his plea and sentence. The Court of Appeals issued a decision in 2019, granting the PRP in part. In re Pers. Restraint of Isaiah Jacob Schubert, 7 Wn. App. 2d 1007 (2019) (unpublished).¹

In his PRP, Mr. Schubert requested the appointment of counsel. He argued his offender score of 9 was incorrect, and that he received ineffective assistance of counsel in his pre-trial and

¹ Unpublished opinions are cited to provide guidance to the Court. GR 14.1(a).

plea proceedings. <u>Id</u>. at *1. He argued his plea was involuntary due to an error in his offender score, along with several other errors, including his attorney's failure to allege same criminal conduct. <u>Id</u>.

Even though the Court of Appeals agreed that Mr. Schubert raised meritorious issues in his PRP, the Court denied Mr. Schubert's request for counsel. Id. at *2. The Court agreed Mr. Schubert's offender score was miscalculated, and his score on count one should have been an 8. Id. at *1. The Court found Mr. Schubert had waived any same criminal conduct argument as part of his plea and denied the PRP on the other grounds raised. These grounds included merger, ineffective assistance of trial counsel, and the involuntariness of the plea due to the miscalculation. Id. at *2. The Court of Appeals relied on In re Pers. Restraint of Coats in determining an error in a judgment and sentence does not render a plea involuntary. Id. at *2 (citing Coats, 173 Wn.2d 123, 141, 267 P.3d 324 (2011)).

Mr. Schubert sought this Court's discretionary review. <u>In re</u>

Pers. Restraint of Schubert, No. 96934-5, at *2 (July 26, 2019).²

This Court's Deputy Commissioner agreed the miscalculation of the offender score "rendered the plea involuntary." Appendix B at 2 (citing <u>State v. Buckman</u>, 190 Wn.2d 51, 59-60, 409 P.3d 193 (2018)). However, the Court denied review, finding Mr. Schubert had not met the "actual and substantial prejudice" standard required for a collateral attack. <u>Id</u>. at 2-3.³

2. Mr. Schubert returns to court for resentencing.

In February 2020, the case was remanded to Thurston

County for resentencing on the scoring error the Court of Appeals
recognized in the PRP. Mr. Schubert appeared with new counsel

² The State moved to admit the 2019 Supreme Court ruling denying review, pursuant to RAP 9.11. The ruling is part of this cause number, per an agreed order settling the record. CP ___, sub. no. 129. The Deputy Commissioner's ruling is attached as Appendix B.

³ This Court specifically criticized the Court of Appeals' reliance on <u>Coats</u> for the erroneous finding that Mr. Schubert's guilty plea was not involuntary. Appendix B at 2 n.1.

and filed a CrR 7.8 motion to withdraw his guilty plea. 2/3/20 RP 4-9; CP 64-71. Mr. Schubert argued his plea was involuntary because he was misinformed about the sentencing consequences. CP 69-70. He also argued if he had been properly advised by counsel, particularly regarding his sentencing calculation, he would have rejected the plea and proceeded to trial. CP 70.

The court denied Mr. Schubert's motion to withdraw his plea, saying the voluntariness of the plea was previously raised and decided in the PRP. 2/3/20 RP 9. Mr. Schubert argued the court must apply the less onerous prejudice standard than the "actual and substantial prejudice" required in a PRP. 2/3/20 RP 7. Mr. Schubert argued he would not have pleaded guilty if he had not been misinformed of the sentencing consequences and asked for an evidentiary hearing in order to further develop the record regarding prejudice. 2/3/20 RP 8; CP 65-66, 70. The court denied this request. 2/3/20 RP 9.

Mr. Schubert also argued he should be resentenced on the remaining counts, since the parties agreed the offender scores

were incorrect on counts 2-7. 2/3/20 RP 10. Even though the trial court acknowledged the scoring error had "infected ... the other counts, as well," the court refused to resentence Mr. Schubert on counts 2-7. 2/3/20 RP 12, 18-19.⁴

3. Mr. Schubert files a direct appeal.

Mr. Schubert argued on direct appeal that the trial court should have granted his motion to withdraw his guilty plea because the plea was involuntary; the trial court erred when it failed to correct the erroneous offender scores on counts 2-7; and the court erred by imposing discretionary legal financial obligations and interest on unpaid fees. Brief of Appellant. The Court of Appeals properly agreed with Mr. Schubert on the second and third issues. Appendix A at 7 (Court of Appeals opinion).

⁴ In an agreed order issued after the resentencing hearing, the court amended the community custody term for count 1 to 18 months, rather than 36. CP 98. Mr. Schubert does not seek review on the same criminal conduct or merger issues here.

However, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's ruling denying Mr. Schubert's motion to withdraw his guilty plea on two bases – 1) that he was attempting to expand the scope of the remanded PRP to include a previously rejected argument; and in the alternative, 2) that he fails to show "actual and substantial prejudice." Appendix A at 4-5.

Mr. Schubert seeks this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. As this Court already recognized, Mr. Schubert's plea was involuntary because he was misadvised of the sentencing consequences of his guilty plea.

This Court's Deputy Commissioner determined in a 2019 ruling that "the [offender score] miscalculation, which appeared in Mr. Schubert's plea statement as well as in the judgment and sentence, rendered the plea involuntary." Appendix B at 2.

a. <u>Due process requires a defendant to be properly</u> advised of the direct consequences of a guilty plea.

Due Process requires that a defendant's plea of guilty be knowing, voluntary, and intelligent. U.S. Const. amend. 14;

Const. art. I, sec. 3, 21, 22; <u>Boykin v. Alabama</u>, 395 U.S. 238, 242, 89 S. Ct. 1709, 23 L. Ed. 2d 274 (1969); <u>see also In re the Personal Restraint of Isadore</u>, 151 Wn.2d 294, 298, 88 P.3d 390 (2004) ("A guilty plea is not knowingly made when it is based on misinformation of sentencing consequences."). A guilty plea is involuntary if the defendant is not properly advised of a direct consequence of his plea. <u>State v. Mendoza</u>, 157 Wn.2d 582, 587, 141 P.3d 49 (2006); <u>State v. Ross</u>, 129 Wn.2d 279, 284, 916 P.2d 405 (1996).

"Where a plea agreement is based on misinformation ... generally the defendant may choose ... withdrawal of the guilty plea." State v. Walsh, 143 Wn.2d 1, 8, 17 P.3d 591 (2001). A plea is not voluntary or valid if it is made without an accurate understanding of the consequences. Walsh, 143 Wn.2d at 8.

Because of the constitutional rights waived by a guilty plea, the State must show a plea was knowingly and voluntarily entered. Boykin, 395 U.S. at 242. "The record of the plea hearing must affirmatively disclose a guilty plea was made

intelligently and voluntarily, with an understanding of the full consequences of such a plea." Wood v. Morris, 87 Wn.2d 501, 503, 554 P.2d 1032 (1976).

b. This Court found the miscalculation in Mr. Schubert's offender score rendered his plea involuntary; this remains the law of the case.

This Court's Deputy Commissioner acknowledged in a 2019 ruling that Mr. Schubert's guilty plea was involuntary.

Appendix B at 2. Applying Mendoza and Buckman to Mr.

Schubert's PRP, the Court stated, "I agree that the miscalculation, which appeared in Mr. Schubert's plea statement as well as in the judgment and sentence, rendered the plea involuntary." Appendix B at 2.

This is because, as this Court held in Mendoza, "Absent a showing that the defendant was correctly informed of all of the direct consequences of his guilty plea, the defendant may move to withdraw the plea." Id. at 591. Even where a defendant's ultimate sentence resulted in less time than they believed they

would receive, a defendant is entitled to withdraw their plea. <u>Id</u>. at 584.

The only remaining issue for the Deputy Commissioner was the prejudice prong, which Mr. Schubert's *pro se* pleadings failed to meet under the higher prejudice standard governing PRPs. <u>Id</u>. at 2 (citing <u>Buckman</u>, 190 Wn.2d at 59-60) (requiring actual and substantial prejudice).

When Mr. Schubert's case was then remanded for resentencing following this Court's determination that the guilty plea was involuntary, this was the law of the case. Appendix B at 2. The trial court was wrong when it denied Mr. Schubert's motion to withdraw his guilty plea as involuntary, finding the issue was "previously raised" in the Court of Appeals. 2/3/20 RP 9.

Mr. Schubert argued his plea was involuntary in a *pro se*PRP, before he was appointed counsel on his direct appeal. He requested the assistance of counsel with his PRP, and the Court of Appeals denied this request, even though the Court agreed his

PRP had merit. <u>Schubert</u>, 7 Wn. App. 2d at *2. As a *pro se* litigant, he successfully argued his offender score was miscalculated and should have been appointed counsel. <u>Id</u>. at *1; <u>see</u> RCW 10.73.150(4) (counsel shall be provided to an indigent person on collateral attack when the issues raised in the petition are not frivolous).

In this Court on discretionary review, Mr. Schubert argued before the Deputy Commissioner that because he had relied upon a sentencing miscalculation, his plea was involuntary. This Court agreed, as it must under Mendoza and Buckman, finding the plea involuntary. Appendix B at 2. Mr. Schubert was entitled to return to the trial court with this finding and to pursue his motion to vacate his guilty plea in the trial court, using the lower prejudice standard appropriate on direct appeal.⁵

⁵ At the trial court, Mr. Schubert argued, both by motion and in oral argument, that he would not have pleaded guilty had he been advised of the correct sentencing calculation. CP 64-70;

Instead, the trial court erroneously rejected Mr. Schubert's motion to vacate, and the Court of Appeals made the identical error. 2/3/20 RP 9.

The Court of Appeals improperly found Mr. Schubert was attempting to "expand the scope of the remanded PRP to include a previously rejected argument regarding withdrawal of his plea. Appendix A at 4. For this proposition, the Court of Appeals relied on State v. Johnson, 188 Wn.2d 742, 755, 399 P.3d 507 (2017), a case that does not support the Court's reasoning. Appendix A at 4. In Johnson, this Court reaffirmed its "long standing 'law of the case' doctrine." Id. at 756 (internal citations omitted). Johnson stands for the general proposition that "once there is an appellate holding enunciating a principle of law, that holding will be followed in subsequent stages of the same litigation." Id. at 755.

^{2/3/20} RP 7-8. He also emphasized the different prejudice standard for direct appeals and PRPs. 2/3/20 RP 7.

Indeed, under <u>Johnson</u>, the law of the case established by this Court's 2019 ruling was that Mr. Schubert's plea was <u>involuntary</u>. Appendix B at 2. But the State did not move to modify that finding of involuntariness, so it remains. The Deputy Commissioner found Mr. Schubert had not established actual and substantial prejudice as required for relief in a PRP, in that he did not show the outcome "more likely than not" would have been different without the error. Appendix B at 2; <u>Buckman</u>, 190 Wn.2d at 60. This only limited Mr. Schubert from prevailing in his PRP.

The Court of Appeals misapplied <u>Johnson</u> when it then determined the "law of the case" prevented the Court from reviewing Mr. Schubert's motion to vacate his plea.

The Court also misapplied the law when it failed to apply the correct standard for prejudice in this direct appeal. The Court held that even if Mr. Schubert could argue prejudice, he "fails to show actual and substantial prejudice, that is, that more likely than not he would have chosen not to plead guilty." Appendix A

at 4-5. As this Court held in <u>Buckman</u>, this is exactly the <u>wrong</u> standard on direct appeal; instead, it is precisely the standard that must be shown in a collateral attack. 190 Wn.2d at 60.6

The Court of Appeals erroneously stated Mr. Schubert was procedurally barred from arguing his guilty plea was involuntary, even though this Court had already stated it was. The Court also misunderstood the standard of prejudice that must be shown on direct appeal. Appendix A at 4-5.

c. This Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals opinion is in conflict with Mendoza and Buckman.

Where a defendant is misinformed of the consequences of a guilty plea, they need not show on direct appeal they would

⁶ If Mr. Schubert had not filed a *pro se* PRP before his appeal, he would have faced the lower/no prejudice standard on direct appeal first: "Buckman probably would have been entitled to automatic relief if he had sought to withdraw his guilty plea in a direct appeal because he claims he did not discover the error until after sentencing." <u>Buckman</u>, 190 Wn.2d at 88 (Gordon-McCloud, dissenting) (citing <u>Mendoza</u>, 157 Wn.2d at 591-92) (holding no prejudice finding is necessary if claim brought on direct appeal and error not found until after sentencing).

not have pled guilty, but for the misinformation. Mendoza, 157 Wn.2d at 591-92; State v. Rhodes, 8 Wn. App. 2d 1052 n.1 (2019); GR 14.1. On direct appeal, the "actual and substantial prejudice" requirement in collateral attacks does not apply.

Buckman, 190 Wn.2d at 59-60.

Further, the Court of Appeals erroneously found Mr.

Schubert was barred from raising the voluntariness of his guilty plea on direct appeal. Appendix A at 4. This Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

2. This Court should grant review of and consider each of Mr. Schubert's *pro se* statement of additional grounds for review raised in the Court of Appeals.

This Court should grant review of each of the several additional grounds raised in the *pro se* Statement of Additional Grounds. Mr. Schubert contends the Court of Appeals erred when it failed to consider and denied his arguments that: 1) his trial attorney provided ineffective assistance of counsel; 2) there was not a factual basis for the guilty plea; and 3) the court misapplied

the felony firearm registration requirement. This Court should grant review because the Court's decision is in conflict with decisions of this Court, and with decisions of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

F. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals decision should be reviewed, as it is in conflict with decisions of this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

This brief complies with RAP 18.17, as it was prepared using Microsoft Word 2016 and contains approximately 2615 words.