FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/11/2022 4:07 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 100736-1 COA NO. 54597-7-II

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

۷.

ISAIAH JACOB SCHUBERT, Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Chris Lanese, Judge The Honorable James J. Dixon, Judge

Cause No. 15-1-00831-9

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Joseph J.A. Jackson Attorney for Respondent 2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W. Olympia, Washington 98502 (360) 786-5540

#

#### A. ISSUES PERTAINING TO REVIEW

1. Whether review is appropriate under RAP 13.4 where the Court of Appeals correctly recognized the procedural posture of this case and applied the standard for collateral attacks in its review of the trial court's decision following remand from Schubert's prior personal restraint petition.

2. Whether review is appropriate under RAP 13.4 where the decision of the Court of Appeals follows and gives meaning to prior case law regarding the standard for withdraw of a guilty plea in a collateral attack.

3. Whether this Court should review the Court of Appeals' decision regarding Schubert's Statement of Additional Grounds where Schubert has not demonstrated a basis for review under RAP 13.4.

#### B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Isaiah Jacob Schubert, pled guilty to burglary in the first degree while armed with a firearm/domestic violence,

violation of no contact order/domestic violence, residential burglary/domestic violence, assault in violation of a pretrial no contact order/domestic violence, unlawful imprisonment/domestic violence, unlawful possession of a firearm in the second degree, and criminal trespass in the first degree/domestic violence based on incidents that occurred in June and July of 2015. CP 14-24; 25-35.

When the trial court accepted his guilty plea, the trial court considered the factual basis provided in declarations of probable cause filed in both Thurston County Cause number 15-1-00831-9 and Thurston County Cause number 15-1-01020-8. RP (05/16/2017) 11-12. It was clear in the record that the plea agreement consolidated charges from both cases. RP (05/16/2017) 9.

Schubert did not file a direct appeal. However, he later filed a personal restraint petition. In re Pers. Restraint

of Schubert, 7 Wn. App.2d 1007 (2020),<sup>1</sup> CP 37-41.<sup>2</sup> In his personal restraint petition, Schubert alleged that his offender score was incorrect and that he received ineffective assistance of counsel. CP 38. The Court of Appeals accepted the State's concession that Schubert's offender score on his burglary in the first-degree conviction improperly included a point for the first-degree criminal trespass charge. CP 39. The Court indicated "Schubert is entitled to be resentenced with an offender score of 8 for the first-degree burglary conviction." CP 39. The Court rejected Schubert's claim that the error rendered his plea involuntary, entitling him to withdraw it, citing to In re Pers. Restraint of Coats, 173 Wn.2d 123, 141, 267 P.3d 324

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Unpublished, not offered as precedent under GR 14.1, but the State notes it is part of the law of the case in this matter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Court of Appeals decision in the personal restraint petition and the certificate of finality are included in the clerk's papers, and this brief will refer to the opinion as it appears there, as was done in the Brief of Respondent in the Court of Appeals.

(2011). CP 40. Schubert sought review in this Court,

which was denied by a ruling of the Deputy Commissioner.

Ruling Denying Review, No. 96934-5 (Appendix B to

Petition for Review).<sup>3</sup>

In denying review, the Deputy Commissioner stated,

I agree that the miscalculation, which appeared in Mr. Schubert's plea statement as well as in the judgment and sentence, rendered the plea involuntary. See State v. Buckman, 190 Wn.2d 51. 59-60. 409 P.3d 193 (2018)(misinformation sentencing as to consequences renders plea involuntary). But in this collateral challenge Mr. Schubert must also show that he was actually and substantially prejudiced by the misinformation, meaning, specifically, that in the absence of the error he more likely than not would have declined to plead guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Id.

Ruling Denying Review at 2. The Deputy Commissioner

later noted, "Mr. Schubert does not even assert he was

actually prejudiced, much less show that he was. Instead,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> A motion to supplement the record with the decision of the Deputy Commissioner of this Court was granted by the Court of Appeals on January 15, 2021.

he relies on principles of entitlement to withdraw that do not apply to collateral challenges," and then provided a summary of case law in the area regarding collateral challenges. *Id.* at 2-3. Finding that Schubert had demonstrated no prejudice, the Deputy Commissioner stated, "The Court of Appeals sustainably denied the relief of withdrawal of the guilty plea and instead granted the relief appropriate in this circumstance: resentencing under the correct offender score." *Id.* at 3.

After review was denied, the Court of Appeals entered a certificate of finality and the matter was remanded to the Superior Court. CP 37. Prior to the resentencing hearing, Schubert filed a motion to withdraw his guilty plea. CP 67-71. In that motion, Schubert made essentially the same argument that was rejected by the Deputy Commissioner.

When the trial court considered the issue, the prosecutor argued that "it would be inappropriate for [the

trial court] to rule on those today, as they've already been addressed by the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court." RP (02/03/2020) 6. The trial court agreed stating, "I agree with the State's assessment of this, having read the Court of Appeals decision. I view this as having been previously raised, and I am denying it for the reasons requested by the State." RP (2/3/2020) 9.

While noting that the remand addressed only Count 1, the prosecutor at resentencing indicated that there "were some errors" in "some of the other offenses" and stated, "I don't know whether or not the Court should resentence Mr. Schubert on those other counts, given that the mandate doesn't address can [sic] them." RP (2/3/2020) 9. It was not made clear during the hearing the exact issue with the offender score on other charges; however, the trial court asked defense counsel, "do you agree with that assessment, that the air has infected, since we're talking about illness, the other counts, as well?" and defense

counsel responded "Yes, Judge. That is our position." RP (2/3/2020) 10.<sup>4</sup>

The trial court noted that resentencing on the other counts was a technical question based on the law of the case, and indicated,

> technically, I don't think I am supposed to do that with the mandate as written. And so do you - - does anyone disagree that I'm actually, with this mandate under the law of the case and my limited jurisdiction right now, not supposed to address anything other than Count 1?

RP (2/3/2020) 10-11. The prosecutor acknowledged that the remand covered only count one but indicated a desire to handle all of the issues rather than potentially having the matter remanded again. RP (2/3/2020) 11. Defense counsel also asked that the parties go forward with a full resentencing. RP (2/3/2020) 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Both defense counsel and the prosecutor indicated that they were sick during the hearing, hence the reference to illness.

The trial court ruled, "what we're going to do today is just address Count 1." RP (2/3/2020) 12. Defense counsel noted "my client is really anxious for the Court to reconsider the offender score. But I've explained to him that's not before the Court today." RP (2/3/2020) 17-18. Per the remand and certificate of finality, the trial court resentenced Schubert with an offender score of 8 on the burglary in the first-degree count to a term of 102 months followed by a 60-month firearm enhancement. RP (2/3/2020) 18-19.

Schubert then appealed the resentencing and the denial of his motion to withdraw guilty plea. The Court of Appeals ruled, "While Schubert prevailed in his PRP on inaccuracy of his offender score, he cannot now expand the scope of the remanded PRP to include a previously rejected argument regarding his withdrawal of his plea." <u>Unpublished Opinion</u>, No. 54597-7-II, at 4. The Court of Appeals further indicated, "Even if he could argue the prejudice issue for the first time at this procedural juncture,

Schubert fails to show actual and substantial prejudice, that is, that more likely than not he would have chosen not to plead guilty." *Id.* at 5. The Court of Appeals found that the trial court abused its discretion by not correcting the sentence on counts 2-7 following remand and remanded the case once again for resentencing on those counts. *Id.* at 6-7. Schubert now seeks review of the decision of the Court of Appeals.

#### C. ARGUMENT

A petition for review will be accepted by this

Court only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or

(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

1. <u>The Court of Appeals correctly found that</u> <u>Schubert could not expand the scope of his</u> <u>collateral attack on remand.</u>

The "trial court's discretion to resentence on remand is limited by the scope of the appellate court mandate." State v. Kilgore, 167 Wn.2d 28, 42, 216 P.3d 393 (2009). The law of the case is a doctrine derived from the common law and RAP 2.5(c)(2) and is intended to promote finality and efficiency. State v. Schwab, 134 Wn. App. 635, 644, 141 P.3d 658 (2006). Generally, it stands for the proposition that once there is an appellate holding enunciating a principle of law, that holding will be followed in later stages of the same litigation. Id. RAP 2.5(c)(2)limits the doctrine by allowing the appellate court to review the propriety of an earlier decision in the same case, where justice would be served.

The trial court does not retain broad discretion when the Court of Appeals remands to the trial court with

direction that leaves no room for independent judgment. <u>State v. Robb</u>, 2019 Wash.App.LEXIS 2348, 4;<sup>5</sup> citing <u>State v. Schwab</u>, 134 Wn. App. at 645. Here, the Court of Appeals remanded the case "for resentencing with a correct offender score of 8 for the first-degree burglary." CP 41. The trial court properly declined to consider Schubert's motion to withdraw his guilty plea because that was previously considered and ruled upon by the Court of Appeals and the Deputy Commissioner of this Court. *See* <u>State v. Barberio</u>, 121 Wn.2d 48, 51, 846 P.2d 519 (1993) (RAP 2.5(c)(1) does not revive every issue not previously raised).

When a plea is based on misinformation regarding the consequences of the plea in a direct appeal, our courts have said "due process requires an affirmative showing a defendant entered a guilty plea intelligently and

<sup>5</sup> Unpublished opinion offered only for whatever persuasive value this Court deems appropriate. GR 14.1.

voluntarily." <u>State v. Ross</u>, 129 Wn.2d 279, 284, 916 P.2d 405 (1996); <u>State v. Mendoza</u>, 157 Wn.2d 582, 591, 141 P.3d 49 (2006); <u>State v. Weyrich</u>, 163 Wn.2d 554, 557, 182 P.3d 965 (2008). However, a petitioner's burden on collateral review is different. <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Stockwell</u>, 179 Wn.2d 588, 596-597, 316 P.3d 1007 (2014).

In order for a petitioner on collateral attack to demonstrate that they are entitled to withdraw a guilty plea based on misinformation, the petitioner must demonstrate "actual and substantial prejudice arising from an incorrect statement of sentencing consequences." *Id.* at 598-599, citing In re Pers. Restraint of Fawcett, 147 Wn.2d 298, 299-300, 53 P.3d 972 (2002). Put another way, "the petitioner must show that the outcome of the guilty plea proceedings would more likely than not have been different had the error not occurred. <u>State v. Buckman</u>, 190 Wn.2d 51, 60, 409 P.3d 193 (2017).

This Court clarified that the term prejudice, in the context of a guilty plea, means "a defendant challenging a guilty plea must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for [the alleged error], he would not have pleaded guilty but would have insisted on going to trial." <u>In re Pers.</u> <u>Restraint of Riley</u>, 122 Wn.2d 772, 780-781, 863 P.2d 554 (1993); <u>State v. Buckman</u>, 190 Wn.2d at 62. A bare allegation that a petitioner would not have pleaded guilty if he had known all of the consequences of the plea is not sufficient to establish prejudice. *Id.* at 782.

In this case, the plea agreement demonstrated that Schubert faced a potential total sentence of 212 months, which would have included 36 month enhancement on an Assault in the Second Degree charge that the State ultimately did not pursue as part of the plea bargain. CP 102-111. Instead of going to trial, Schubert elected to accept the State's offer, which was for a total agreed sentence of 176 months. *Id.* The only recommendation

that was listed in the plea offer was the burglary in the first degree, which was the driving factor of the plea. *Id.* There was no reasonable probability that Schubert would not have entered the plea agreement had he known that the offender score was 8 instead of 9. That error actually makes the plea agreement more beneficial than the one which he chose to accept. This Court properly concluded that the correct remedy was to remand for resentencing, not withdrawal of Schubert's guilty plea

Schubert's petition for review assumes an incorrect procedural posture. Schubert did not file a direct appeal. This appeal is of the issues that were remanded by the Court of Appeals following a collateral attack. The correct standard for any motion to withdraw guilty plea is that of a collateral attack. The Court of Appeals applied the correct standard. As such, there is no basis upon which Schubert has demonstrated that review is appropriate under RAP 13.4.

# 2. <u>The decision of the Court of Appeals does not</u> <u>conflict with the decisions in *Mendoza* and <u>Buckman.</u></u>

State v. Mendoza, 157 Wn.2d 582, 141 P.3d 49 (2006), had a different procedural posture than this case. The defendant in State v. Mendoza objected to his attorney's representation and sought to withdraw his guilty plea during a hearing where his attorney requested an evidentiary hearing on contested facts in a presentence investigation report. Id. at 586. Mendoza appealed the denial of his motion to withdraw guilty plea under CrR 4.2. Id. at 587. State v. Mendoza was never in the procedural posture of a collateral attack. The standard in the direct appeal of State v. Mendoza is different than the standard in a collateral attack. In re Pers. Restraint of Snively, 180 Wn.2d 28, 32, 320 P.3d 1107 (2014); In re Pers. Restraint of Isadore, 151 Wn.2d 294, 88 P.3d 390 (2004). The Court of Appeals correctly noted that the posture of Schubert's

case was remand from a collateral attack and correctly applied the standard for a collateral attack.

State v. Buckman, 190 Wn.2d 51, 60, 409 P.3d 193 (2017), reiterated that the standard in a collateral attack for withdrawing a guilty plea is different than the standard for withdrawal of a guilty plea in a direct appeal. Following Schubert's rationale and holding that the direct appeal standard applies following remand from a collateral attack would render the distinction meaningless. Schubert cannot show that the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with the holdings of <u>State v. Mendoza</u> and <u>State v. Buckman</u>.

3. <u>Schubert has not provided any basis under RAP</u> <u>13.4 to accept review based of the issues raised</u> <u>in his statement of additional grounds.</u>

While Schubert asks this Court to accept review of the issues raised in his Statement of Additional Grounds at the Court of Appeals, he provides no analysis as to why review of those issues should be granted. As such, he has not demonstrated that review of those issues is appropriate under RAP 13.4.

## D. CONCLUSION

Schubert has not demonstrated that review is appropriate under RAP 13.4. The State respectfully requests that this Court deny review.

I certify that this document contains 2,640 words, as counted by word processing software, not included those portions exempted from the word count, in compliance with RAP 18.17.